LANE BRUCE TOWER  v. SOUTH COAST, INC. aka KLUKWAN
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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	LANE BRUCE TOWER, 

                                                   Employee, 

                                                            Applicant,

                                                   v. 

SOUTH COAST, INC., aka KLUKWAN, INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE. 

COMPANY, 

                                                  Insurer,

                                                            Defendants.
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)
	          FINAL

          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200128356M
                                      200116177

        AWCB Decision No.  05-0187

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         on  July 14,  2005.


On June 14, 2005, in Juneau, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employee’s claim for temporary total disability (TTD) benefits for the time period from December 13, 2003 through October 14, 2004, on the basis of the written record.   The employer and its insurer were represented by Theresa Hennemann, attorney at law.  The employee appeared pro se. The record closed upon receipt of briefs from the parties on June 14, 2005.


ISSUE
Is the employee entitled to TTD benefits under AS 23.30.185 for the time period from December 13, 2003 through October 14, 2004?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
The employee was employed as a laborer “pounding hubs,” i.e. pounding a spike into the road with a ten pound sledge hammer, on road construction for the employer while working on the Big Salt project on Prince of Wales Island.
  He worked for the employer early in 2001, and then again from May 31, 2001 through August 17, 2001.  He was 46 years of age at the time of the injury.  When he left work for this employer, he filed an injury report citing his left elbow as being “swollen” and reported that he had a “pinched nerve in shoulder.”
  The project manager on the project acknowledged that the employee had an arm injury and the project manager, tried to find the employee other work.
  His statement was supported by the statement of David Matelski, the employee’s immediate supervisor, who acknowledged that the employee had an elbow injury and that he tried to get him easier work that would not make his injury worse.
  The employee detailed the circumstances surrounding his injury in a statement given in his left elbow injury docket, AWCB 200116177.

After the employee left work, he sought treatment for his left elbow with Kari Lundgren, PA-C.
 She diagnosed left elbow tendonitis with back muscle strain.  The condition was deemed work related and “occurred due to repetitive hammering with left arm.”  He was prescribed Vicodin and Flexeril and told to massage the elbow and continue with anti-inflammatories.   He was then treated by Alan Wolf, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon and his treating physician, who performed surgery on the employee’s left elbow in October 2001.  The employee received TTD for his left elbow from August 6, 2001 through May 16, 2002 when his left elbow was deemed stable. The employee eventually received a two per cent permanent partial impairment (PPI) rating for his left elbow from Dr. Wolf in May 2002.  Eventually, Dr. Wolf re-rated the elbow to five percent on December 26, 2002.
  At about this same time, the employee first discussed his bilateral pain problems with Dr. Wolf.
  The employee filed a workers’ compensation claim seeking a rate adjustment which was resolved without a need for Board intervention.
  The employee filed another workers’ compensation claim on January 24, 2003, alleging injury to the left elbow and claiming the date of injury was May 30, 2001.  He described the mechanism for the injury as “pounding a 14 inch by 1 ¼ drill steel into road bed 12 inches with a 10 pound sledge hammer up to 200 times per day 10 days in a row per work week…”
  Four days later, the employee filed another claim, this time for mental stress.
   On February 14, 2003, the employee saw Dr. Wolf for bilateral elbow and ulnar sided hand numbness.
  On February 26, 2003, the employer controverted the employee’s benefits based on its AS 23.30.100 defense.
  

On April 9, 2003, the employee underwent more left elbow surgery, and TTD was paid from this date.  It is possible that a right arm “overuse” phenomena occurred at about this time as the employee’s left arm was recovering from the surgery.
  On April 29, 2003, Dr. Wolf again reported his diagnosis of right elbow pain.
  Subsequently, Dr. Wolf conservatively treated the employee for right elbow pain based on his diagnosis of “right lateral epicondylitis or “tennis elbow” and “right cubital tunnel syndrome.”

From May 27, 2003 through June 13, 2003, the employee underwent and completed a job training program sponsored by the Alaska Workforce Investment Act (WIA).  This included 40 hours of Hazmat, 40 hours of backhoe training and 40 hours of training to work as a grader.
  The employer claims that the cause of the employee’s right elbow problem was his 80 hours of training learning to operate a road grader and backhoe.  In support of its argument, the employer cites the employee’s complaints when his deposition was taken that he had not done any work as a road grader because his arms hurt too much.
 On July 15, 2003, the employee informed the employer for the first time that his right arm was bothering him.
 On October 9, 2003, the employee was seen by Dr. Wolf for right elbow pain similar to what he experienced on the left.
  On October 21, 2003, the employee was seen by Dr. Wolf for right lateral elbow pain.  He noted that “lateral pain with lifting on the right now feels like it used to feel on the left.” He further noted that nonoperative treatment has not worked.
   On October 22, 2003, the employee underwent right elbow surgery for right distal humerus lateral epicondylitis (“tennis elbow”).  The surgery involved epicondyle debridement and removal of bone spurs.
  By letter dated November 19, 2003, Dr. Wolf related that the employee informed him that when his left elbow was casted, his right elbow became symptomatic.  Dr. Wolf opined that the right elbow problem was caused by the inability to use the left elbow which was work related.  Although the left elbow plateaued, the plateau was only temporary and the discomfort recurred.  Dr. Wolf thought the employee had reached his maximal level of medical improvement but then he felt his assumption was incorrect.
   When the employee went to see Dr. Wolf on November 25, 2003, to follow up after the surgery, the employee complained that when he had surgery on his right elbow, the left elbow became problematic during the period of convalesence.  He testified that the same thing happened when he had surgery on the left side and the right side became symptomatic due to overuse.  As Dr. Wolf reported, “After the left elbow surgery, he overused the right side, which subsequently became symptomatic.”  The employee’s diagnosis was “right lateral epicondylitis treated successfully with surgery one month ago” and “left elbow medical epicondylitis-recurrent.”
   

The employee filed for benefits in connection with his left arm injury and for mental stress.  This claim was designated AWCB No. 200116177.  The final order in this matter, AWCB Decision No. 03-0278, was issued November 25, 2003.  The mental stress claim was denied but the employee did receive other benefits in connection with his left arm injury.  This case was appealed by the employee to superior court and the Board’s order has been affirmed with the exception of several transportation charges. The files connected with the employee’s right, bilateral and left arm conditions, AWCB Nos. 200116177 and 200128356, were previously consolidated at a prehearing conference held March 18, 2003.  The record in AWCB No. 200116177 has been incorporated by reference into this proceeding by agreement of the parties.  The employee has presented evidence on his right arm condition as part of this proceeding.

The employer controverted the employee’s benefits related to his right elbow on November 25, 2003, based on the employee’s failure to give notice to the employer of the right arm injury under AS 23.30.100.
  On November 29, 2003, the employee filed his workers’ compensation claim which gives rise to the current proceeding.
   The employer filed its answer on January 7, 2004.  It disputed the employee’s claims for TTD, medical costs and transportation costs, interest, penalty and unfair or frivolous controversion.  It asserted that the claim was barred under AS 23.30.100 and that the employee’s condition was the result of superceding or intervening events.

On December 12, 2003, at the request of the employer, the employee was seen by Donald Schroeder, M.D.  He concluded that the employee’s right elbow condition was unrelated to his work with the employer and that no further treatment was reasonable or necessary.
 In support of his position that the right elbow condition is not related to the work activities of 2001, Dr. Schroeder cites the lapse of two years before the condition was reported  to Dr. Wolf on August 5, 2003.  He also found the employee to be medically stable as of the date of his December 12, 2003 examination.  He did not find any permanent impairment for the right elbow.
  

At the August 10, 2004 hearing, Bill Welton testified on behalf of the employee.  He was general manager for South Coast.  He supervised the employee when he was working on the Big Salt Road project.  He remembered that the employee had swelling in both arms from work for the employer.  He remembered that he and the employee did discuss other jobs besides “pounding hubs.”  These other jobs for the employee did not materialize.  The employee first relied on his left arm then used his right arm after his left arm was sore.  Mr. Welton recalled that the employee injured both arms.

At the continued hearing session held on August 26, 2004, Dr. Wolf testified regarding his treatment of the employee for his right and left elbow conditions.  The employee had not been seen by Dr. Wolf after November 25, 2003.  Dr. Wolf testified that he treated the employee for both arm injuries with the left being the first and more serious and then later the right elbow.  This was because the employee was left hand dominant.  His treatment began for the left elbow on September 4, 2001.  The mechanism for injury was similar in both arms and elbows.  Dr. Wolf believed it was brought about by pounding a sledge hammer, a part of the employee’s work with the employer.  Dr. Wolf’s records showed the employee first discussed bilateral elbow discomfort with Dr. Wolf on December 26, 2002.  On the employee’s February 14, 2003 visit, when the employee and Dr. Wolf discussed his right arm, Dr. Wolf’s diagnoses included bilateral ulnar neuritis.   On March 20, 2003, EMG tests were done by John Bursell, M.D., which showed bilateral ulnar irritation.
  The employee had additional left elbow surgery on April 8, 2003 and at the same time the employee experienced right elbow pain.
  By August 5, 2003, Dr. Wolf’s report notes the employee’s right elbow felt like the left elbow.
 Dr. Wolf diagnosed “right lateral epicondylitis or ‘tennis elbow’ ” and “right cubital tunnel syndrome.” The employee was treated with a tennis elbow band.  A lateral elbow injection was performed which gave the employee significant pain relief.  On October 9, 2003, the employee again saw Dr. Wolf for right elbow pain laterally and right small and ring finger numbness.  The diagnosis was right lateral epicondylitis and right ulnar neuritis and elbow.  At this point, the employee was scheduled for a right elbow lateral epicondylectomy.
  The employee was again seen October 21, 2003, for right elbow lateral pain.  Dr. Wolf acknowledged that nonoperative treatment had not worked on the right and the patient wanted surgery.  On October 22, 2003, Dr. Wolf performed surgery on the right elbow.
  In his report of November 19, 2003, Dr. Wolf reported that part of the right elbow problem was caused by the left elbow casting and consequent “overuse.”  Dr. Wolf noted that overuse does occur and in someone in the employee’s physical condition, it may take a while to develop. Medications taken to address his left arm symptoms could also mask the symptoms associated with the right elbow.  Dr. Wolf also opined that the right elbow problem can be recurrent.  It may become medically unstable again.  He considered the type of injury the employee sustained to his elbows to be consistent with recurrent pounding of “hubs” associated with the employee’s work activities for the employer.  Dr. Wolf viewed the right and left elbow conditions as seen during surgery to be similar, with the left elbow being worse than the right.  These conditions were consistent with the diagnosis and mechanism of injury.  

As to the delay in the appearance of the right arm symptoms, Dr. Wolf suggested that prescriptions such as Ibuprofen or Vioxx, plus the fact that the employee’s injury to his left arm was more serious, may have delayed or masked the right arm symptoms.   Dr. Wolf maintained that he believed that the employee had always been honest with him.

Dr. Wolf was asked about Dr. Schroeder’s December 12, 2003 evaluation of the employee.  Dr. Wolf disagreed with Dr. Schroeder’s opinions that the employee was medically stable and had no permanent impairment.  

Dr. Schroeder also testified regarding his evaluation of the employee.  He has been an orthopedic surgeon for over 30 years.  He physically examined the employee and reviewed the employee’s medical records. His diagnosis was right lateral humeral epicondylitis and ulnar neuritis.
  He felt the employee’s right arm injury was not related to his 2001 work activities with the employer.  He questioned the two year gap between the date of injury and the time the employee actually reported the injury to the employer.  Dr. Schroeder also questioned the employee’s overuse claim.  He maintained that one to two weeks of splinting of the left arm after surgery would not be sufficient to cause overuse of the right elbow.
  He felt this period of time was too short to cause overuse to develop in the other arm.   Dr. Schroeder opined work in 2001 was not a substantial factor in the right elbow condition.  Dr. Schroeder did not consider the employee’s right elbow epicondylitis to be disabling.  

On cross examination, Dr. Schroeder first opined that pounding a sledge hammer could cause epicondlyitis.  Dr. Schroeder indicated that a surgeon cannot see abnormalities during surgery although Dr. Wolf did say that he could observe such abnormalities.  Dr. Schroeder did acknowledge that Dr. Wolf might know more about the employee due to the length of time he had treated him, as opposed to the fact that Dr. Schroeder only saw him once.  He also acknowledged that the employee reported right arm pain in February 2003 to Dr. Wolf.

In argument prior to issuance of the  September 27, 2004 decision, the employer claimed that if the employee is entitled to any TTD, it should only be for a very short period after his right arm surgery of October 22, 2003.  The employer maintained that there is no medical evidence that the employee’s right elbow condition kept the employee from working prior to October 22, 2003.  Under these circumstances, the employer asserted that the employee would only be entitled to TTD from the date of surgery on his right arm, October 22, 2003, until the date Dr. Schroeder found the employee to be medically stable in his report of December 12, 2003.  The employer  asserted that its controversion was based on the employee’s failure to give timely notice of the injury to the employer and is therefore reasonably based upon fact and existing law.  The employer also asserted that no penalty is due and the employer’s action in controverting benefits was timely and proper.

The employee also set out his arguments as to how the evidence should be considered by the Board prior to its September 27, 2004 decision.  The employee noted discrepancies in the report of Dr. Schroeder.  The employee noted that his position was actually that of a laborer pounding hubs which involved swinging a 10 pound sledge hammer 1200-1800 times per day for a ten hour day.  He was not in a supervisory position as described in Dr. Schroeder’s report.   The employee criticized Dr. Schroeder’s report due to the characterization of the employer’s work as supervisory which had the effect of minimizing the physical nature of the employee’s actual work for the employer. 

The employee went on to point out that he still had problems returning to work prior to issuance of the September 27, 2004 order and claimed additional time loss. He also claimed that no medical costs had been paid for treatment of the right elbow and that he required further evaluation and treatment for his right arm condition.  

With regard to the overuse problem, the employee noted that the reliance on the right arm extended to the full period of recovery for the left arm while it was still weak, and was not limited to the period when casting occurred.

Finally, the employee asserted that under the Richard case, he was entitled to have the Board fully advise him “as to all the real facts which bear upon his condition and his right to compensation, so far as it may know them, and of instructing him on how to pursue his right under law.”
  Secondly, the employee cited the Bockness v. Brown Jug, Inc. case for the proposition that even where medical stability may have been determined, another subsequent period of instability may occur which under the Board’s rules would be deemed compensable and may require the employer to pay for reasonable and necessary medical care.

On September 27, 2004, the Board issued its Final Decision and Order, AWCB Decision No. 04-0213.  Inter alia, the Board found the employee’s entitlement to benefits was not barred for failure to give notice pursuant to AS 23.30.100.  The employee was found to have established a compensable claim with regard to his right elbow.  The employee was found to be entitled to medical and medical transportation expenses associated with his right arm condition.  He was also found to be entitled to TTD for the period from October 22, 2003 through December 12, 2003 pursuant to AS 23.30.185.  The employee was permitted to submit additional medical documentation from Dr. Wolf regarding his eligibility for additional TTD and/or PPI benefits.  The employer was to submit additional documentation or response as it deemed necessary.  The Board found that the employer did not unfairly or frivolously controvert the employee’s claim.  The employee was found to not be entitled to penalties or interest on late paid benefits.  The employee was to submit documentation regarding reasonable witnesses fees and reasonable costs associated with the prosecution of his claim.
  

In the September 27, 2004 order, AWCB Decision No. 04-0231, the Board discussed the compensability of the employee’s right elbow condition.  At page 15 the Board addressed the presumption of compensability and the compensability of the employee’s condition as follows:

II.
COMPENSABILITY OF THE EMPLOYEE’S CLAIMS

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act at AS 23.30.120 provides a presumption of compensability for an employee's injuries.  AS 23.30.120(a) reads, in part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the claimed disability benefit and employment.
  The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
   In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.

In the instant case, we find that the dispute over the employee’s right elbow condition involves technical medical issues, and medical evidence is necessary to raise the presumption of the compensability.  We find the employee’s testimony on the cause of the injury to be credible.
  We also rely on the medical reports of the employee’s treating surgeon, Dr. Wolf, which indicate the employee’s right arm condition was related to his work activity of “pounding hubs.”  The Board finds these reports along with the employee’s testimony are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of the compensability.    

Once the presumption attaches, substantial evidence must be produced showing the claimed medical evaluation for treatment is not reasonable and necessary for the work-related injury.
  Substantial evidence is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind would accept in light of all the evidence to support a conclusion.
 There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the treatment is not reasonable and necessary; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the treatment is reasonable and necessary for the work-related condition.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
  In his December 12. 2003 report, Dr. Schroeder asserted that the mechanism of injury claimed by the employee could not result in the injury to the right arm.  We find these opinions provide affirmative evidence, in isolation, that the employee’s right arm condition was not caused by his work for the employer in 2001 and may well have been caused by his participation in a training program to operate heavy machinery in June 2003.  We find the opinion is substantial evidence, rebutting the presumption of compensability of the employee’s claim.
 

Once substantial evidence shows the condition is not work-related, the presumption drops out, 
 and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  Accordingly, we have reviewed the entire medical and hearing record.  We find the preponderance of the evidence in the available medical record, especially the opinion of Dr. Wolf, combined with the testimony of the employee, indicating the employee’s right arm condition arose from “pounding hubs” for the employer during the period when he worked for the employer from May 30, 2001 through August 17, 2001.  We give little weight to the EME physician’s assertion that this could not provide a mechanism of injury to the right arm or that the injury was caused by operating joysticks during his June 2003 training program.  We find the opinions of Dr. Wolf to be credible and consistent with the record as a whole and in particular with the employee’s account as to how his condition occurred.  The Board gives greater weight to the opinions of Dr. Wolf as they are well reasoned and factually based.  He also saw the employee and treated his elbow conditions over a several year period.  In contrast, Dr. Schroeder only saw the employee on a single occasion.  The Board relies on the opinions of Dr. Wolf in resolving the medical issues raised by this claim.  The Board finds both Dr. Wolf and the employee to be credible.
  Accordingly, we conclude the employee is entitled to benefits under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act related to his right elbow condition….

The employer raises questions as to the employee’s credibility because he relies on two different theories as to the cause of his right arm condition.  The Board finds that even if we were to accept the employee’s overuse theory, the employee would still establish compensability of his claim.  Dr. Wolf also supports this overuse theory.  The overuse theory of the injury is sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability and it was rebutted by Dr. Schroeder at the second stage of the presumption analysis.  However, moving to the third stage of the presumption analysis, we find that the employee establishes a compensable injury by a preponderance of the evidence based on the overuse due to casting and recovery of his left arm.  This result is supported by the testimony of the employee and Dr. Wolf, both of whom we have already found to be credible.  

After issuance of the September 27, 2004 Decision and Order, AWCB Decision No. 04-0231, the parties began the process of working out payment for the employee’s medical expenses and the other items authorized under AWCB Decision No. 04-0231.  Many of these issues have been resolved.
 The November 25, 2003 controversion which had prevented the employee from receiving medical care was lifted as a result of the September 27, 2004 order.  This allowed the employee to again seek medical care.  The employee underwent additional surgery, an ulnar nerve decompression, on his right elbow on October 15, 2004.
 Another prehearing conference was held on October 26, 2004, as the parties sorted through which expenses could be verified and paid.
  After this conference, the employee submitted a series of new medical records from Dr. Wolf.
  These reports are included in the chronology according to when they were issued. 

The employee’s right elbow condition is currently being evaluated through the SIME process. The employee filed a new claim for TTD beginning February 1, 2005 and continuing. However, the question of whether the employee is entitled to TTD from December 12, 2003 through October 14, 2004 remains and it will be addressed in the instant order.

I.  EVIDENCE REGARDING THE EMPLOYEE’S CONDITION BETWEEN DECEMBER 13, 2003 AND OCTOBER 14, 2004 

We begin where the medical treatment for the employee left off as summarized in the September 27, 2004 Decision and Order, AWCB Decision No. 04-0231. 

The employee was again seen by Dr. Wolf on November 25, 2003.
  Dr. Wolf saw the employee for right and left elbow discomfort.  This visit took place one month after the employee’s right distal humerus and lateral epicondylectomy.  Dr. Wolf noted that although the right side was doing well, the procedure caused over use on the left side resulting in left medial epicondylitis.  This was similar to what had happened on the contralateral side.  The diagnosis was “right lateral eipcondylitis treated successfully with surgery one month ago and left elbow medial epicondylitis-recurrent.”  The employee was to remain on TTD for one month.

On December 12, 2003, Dr.Wolf saw the employee and noted that the employee was “not PPI yet.”
  On December 16, 2003, Dr. Wolf issued a note stating the employee remains TTD for one more month and explaining the overuse problem and the possibility that the employee had not reached his maximal level of medical improvement.
  Dr. Wolf noted the overuse problem and the fact that the right elbow problem was caused as a result of the left elbow problem, which was purely a work-related injury.

Dr. Wolf did not see the employee again until October 8, 2004 although they remained in communication by phone.  In his report dated October 8, 2004, it is noted that the employee has not been seen since November 25, 2003.  Dr. Wolf saw the employee for left elbow pain and right elbow pain and ulnar neuritis.  Dr. Wolf noted that the pain on the right side is significant and the employee has numbness and pain which radiate toward the ulnar 2-3 digits.  The employee had limited strength.  The left elbow pain is frequent and dull but the range of motion is good.  He also notes that there is significant elbow tenderness which is more prominent on the right.  The left elbow medial epicondyle is tender and the right is much more so and the right ulnar groove is markedly positive.  Dr. Wolf’s diagnosis was right elbow ulnar neuritis.  Dr. Wolf notes that the electrical conduction study done March 20, 2003 showed right ulnar neuropathy at the elbow and that the employee was now symptomatic.  Dr. Wolf scheduled a right ulnar nerve exploration and transposition on October 15, 2004.  An MRI
 scan was to be done to delineate the large ossicles noted medially so that they could be removed at the time of surgery.  He indicates that the employee is on TTD status for at least one month. Dr. Wolf notes that the patient has recently worsened.

An MRI
 of the upper right extremity was done October 13, 2004.  It notes, in part:

1.     There are prominent ossocular structures seen adjacent to the medial humeral epicondyle.  I suspect this may represent old fractures since the common flexor tendon does insert upon them.  These are not united to the condyle proper as far as I can tell.  Correlation with the patients reported previous surgeries is recommended.  The ulnar collateral ligament is intact.

2.       The ulnar nerve does appear somewhat stretched over the posterior aspect of the largest ossicle where it also demonstrates some flattening and increased signal which could be the etiology for the patients ulnar neuropathy.

3.    There is abnormality of the lateral joint line where there is abnormal signal and thickening within the common extensor tendon (pronator group).  There appears to be interstitial tearing within this structure as well as some thickening of it.  The radial collateral ligament appears intact. There is a small to moderate sized effusion.

On October 14, 2004, Dr. Wolf again saw the employee.  His assessment was right distal humerus medial pain with tenderness over the ulnar nerve and ulnar neuritis.

On October 15, 2004, a pre-op history and physical were performed for the employee by Dr. Wolf.  The operation report from October 15, 2004, shows right elbow neuritis and medial epicondylitis with accessory medial ossicles (bone tumor).  The procedure was described as a right elbow neuroplasty with right elbow medial removal of two large accessory ossicles (bone tumor).

On October 21, 2004, the employee followed up with Dr. Wolf.
  The employee was very happy with the outcome of the surgery.  Physical therapy was to begin in a week or so.  Incision healing nicely.  Employee is to be on TTD for three months.   

On October 26, 2004, Dr. Wolf issued a letter “to whom it may concern” indicating that the employee has been under his care since 2001 for bilateral elbow problems and “he has not been able to work as of March 20, 2003 through the present time.”

At the employer’s request, a second EME was performed by Dr. Schroeder on December 1, 2004.
  He noted the employee’s chief complaint was “painful elbows.”
 Dr. Schroeder describes the employee’s work as “superintendent on a survey crew.”  He states “This work included some degree of physical activities.”
    Dr. Schroeder goes on to concentrate the evaluation on events that have occurred since the December 12, 2003 evaluation.  Dr. Schroeder reported that the employee had “an arbitration hearing in Alaska” and “it was found after the arbitration hearing in late August that the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board found Mr. Tower’s right elbow to be compensable.”
 Dr. Schroeder noted the employee went back to Dr. Wolf after the August hearing and was seen on October 8, 2004.  At that time, Dr. Wolf noted that the employee had persistent right medical epicondylar pain and a sensory loss in the ulnar nerve distribution of his right hand.  Dr. Wolf operated on the employee on October 15, 2004, and performed an ulnar nerve decompression and an anterior ulnar nerve transfer.  Two ossicles noted on a prior MRI  and x-ray were also removed.  Dr. Schroeder noted that the employee experienced dramatic improvement in the sensation in his right hand but still felt weak in the right upper extremity.  After a physical examination of the employee, Dr. Schroeder diagnosed: 


Status post left lateral epicondylectomy, 


status post left medial humeral epicondylectomy, 



status post left ulnar nerve transfer, 


status post right lateral epicondylectomy and 



status post right ulnar nerve transposition with removal of two ossicles.
  

Dr. Schroeder did not recommend formal additional medical treatment other than strengthening for the employee’s right upper extremity.  He did not consider the right elbow condition to be medically stable but expected that it would be stable by February 1, 2005.
 

On December 2, 2004, the employer filed its brief claiming that the employee had not established that he was entitled to TTD for the period from December 13, 2003 through October 14, 2004.
 The employer objected to reopening the record in the September 27, 2004 decision, AWCB Decision No. 04-0231, to allow further information regarding the employee’s eligibility for TTD during the time period in question when Dr. Wolf could have been queried by the employee at the August 10 and 26, 2004 hearing on this issue.  The employer also objected that when the employee was seen by Dr. Wolf on November 25, 2003 he projected TTD to last one more month.

The employee also filed its responsive brief on December 2, 2004.
  He noted that the surgery on his right arm was successful but that he still experienced difficulties obtaining payment for his medical expenses. 

On January 13, 2005, the Board issued its Interlocutory Decision and Order, AWCB Decision No. 05-0001.
  The Board determined that it should leave the record open for additional evidence regarding the employee’s entitlement to TTD for the period from December 13, 2003 through October 14, 2004.
  This order specifically notes that the employee was not seen by Dr. Wolf after November 23, 2003.  It further indicates that the employee’s benefits were controverted November 25, 2003 based on alleged failure to give notice of the injury under AS 23.30.100.  Issuance of the September 27, 2004 decision in AWCB Decision No. 04-0231 had the effect of lifting the November 23, 2003 controversion.
 The Board ordered the parties to submit additional evidence on the employee’s eligibility for TTD from December 13, 2003 through October 14, 2004.
  

On January 20, 2005, the employer sought reconsideration of the January 3, 2005 order providing the employee an opportunity to submit evidence regarding his TTD eligibility for the period from December 13, 2003 through October 14, 2004 and requesting a ruling on the record.

The employee submitted his response, dated January 26, 2005, on January 31, 2005.
  In his brief, the employee indicated that it was difficult for him to get medical care in view of living on an island and having to fly to his appointments with Dr. Wolf in Ketchikan.  He also noted the difficulty of obtaining medical care when the employer had cut off his benefits and was not paying for his transportation.  The employee also reported that he anticipated one more surgery, a right medial epicondylectomy and he did not anticipate being medically stable until after the surgery.  The employee also expressed continuing concern over his unpaid medical expenses.  The employee also described his difficulties with counsel for the employer.

On January 25, 2005, Dr. Wolf evaluated the employee for right and left elbow pain.  The employee was felt to not be ready medically for a PPI evaluation.  The employee’s right elbow x-rays were reviewed.  No fractures, dislocations or subluxations were noted.  The bony alignment was excellent and no osteoarthritis was present.  The diagnosis was right elbow medial epicondylitis.  Dr. Wolf recommended a right medial epicondyle removal.

Based on Dr. Schroeder’s report, an additional controversion was filed on January 28, 2005.  This controversion denied TTD benefits after February 1, 2005.

On January 31, 2005, Dr. Wolf issued a letter to Bruce Dalrymple, the workers’ compensation officer assigned to the case, indicating that the employee has not been medically stable from December 3, 2003 through October 4, 2004.

On February 1, 2005, the Board’s order on reconsideration was issued.
  The employer’s request for reconsideration of AWCB Decision No. 05-0001 was denied.  The employer’s request for a ruling on the existing record was taken under advisement.

By letter dated February 11, 2005, the designated chair advised the parties to provide argument on the documents which had been received regarding the employee’s eligibility for TTD for the time period in question. These documents were Dr. Wolf’s January 31, 2005 letter and a two page medical report from Dr.Wolf dated January 25, 2005. The deadline for written argument was set for February 25, 2005.

On February 16, 2005, Dr. Wolf issued a letter to whom it may concern stating that the employee was not medically stabilized from January 5, 2005 until he recovered from surgery.

On February 25, 2005, the employer submitted its Written Argument on New Evidence Submitted by Employee.

The employer offered comments regarding the evidence submitted by the employee and also raised a due process objection based on its not being allowed to submit additional evidence to respond to the employee’s evidence.  The employer asserts that the January 31, 2005 letter from Dr. Wolf is not the type of evidence reasonable persons would rely on to award TTD benefits.
  The employer maintains that Dr. Wolf ‘s statement is not supported by any objective medical evidence.  The employer indicates that the Wolf letter is deficient as it does not explain the inconsistency between his report of November 25, 2003 where he anticipates the employee will be disabled for only one more month and his new opinion that the employee is disabled for nine more months.
  The employer also notes that as Dr. Wolf did not recommend medical treatment during the time frame at issue, i.e. December 13, 2003 through October 15, 2004, and as no objectively measurable improvement was anticipated, the employee’s condition would be considered stable under AS 23.30.395(21).

The employer also contends that the January 25, 2005 medical report is irrelevant to the TTD issue of the employee’s eligibility for benefits from December 13, 2003 through October 14, 2004.
 Finally, the employer argues that by allowing the employer only to provide argument and not evidence responding to the employee’s submission, the employer has been denied due process.

On March 29, 2005 the Board issued its Interlocutory Decision and Order, AWCB Decision No. 05-0091.

In this order, the Board agreed that the employer should be allowed to provide new evidence as well as argument in response to the documents offered by the employee regarding his eligibility for the time period in question.  The Board retained jurisdiction over the issue.
  

On April 27, 2005, a prehearing conference was conducted.  In this order, the Board set June 14, 2005 for hearing on the employee’s eligibility for TTD for the period from December 13, 2003 through October 14, 2004.
  The parties have provided evidence and argument as set out in the following two sections of this decision.

II. EMPLOYER’S EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT REGARDING ELIGIBILITY OF THE EMPLOYEE FOR TTD FROM DECEMBER 13, 2003 THROUGH OCTOBER 14, 2004

The employer offered argument and a deposition from Dr. Schroeder in support of its position that the employee is not entitled to TTD for the period from December 13, 2003 through October 14, 2004.  We will begin by summarizing the testimony of Dr. Schroeder.   Dr. Schroeder reiterated that at the time of his first evaluation of the employee on December 12, 2003, he considered the employee to be medically stable as to the lateral side of the right elbow after the employee’s lateral epicondylectomy on October 15, 2003.
  Dr. Schroeder noted that the employee did not seek medical treatment for lateral epicondylitis after the October 2003 surgery.  Dr. Schroeder testified that when the employee was seen again in October 2004, the employee was experiencing problems with the medial aspect of the elbow and had issues regarding the ulnar nerve.
  Dr. Schroeder testified that there was no documentation of objectively measurable improvement between December 12, 2003 and October 14, 2004, the improvement in the employee’s condition was “an occurrence of just a natural progression of time.”

On cross examination, the employee mentioned that he did have medical treatment in the period from January 2004 through October 2004, i.e., eight appointments (three were kept) and he also had an appointment for a cortisone shot in March 2004 which he was not able to keep.  Dr. Schroeder opined that it would make a difference if the treatment was for the medial side as opposed to the lateral side.  The employee indicated it was for the medial as opposed to the lateral side of the right elbow but his treatment consisted of pain pills.  Dr. Schroeder indicated he had not seen treatment records for the employee for the period from December 2003 through October 2004.
  Dr. Schreoder testified that an ulnar nerve transposition would relieve symptoms of ulnar neuritis but may not relieve medial epicondylar pain.
  The employee also questioned Dr. Schroeder’s assumption that he was working as a supervisor and Dr. Schroeder’s understanding of the degree of physical activity involved in causing the injury.  Dr. Schroeder indicated that if a patient presented with signs and symptoms of epicondylitis, he would suggest an epicondylectomy on the lateral side if conservative treatment had failed.
  

Dr. Schroeder indicated  on redirect, that medical appointments would not necessarily relate to the question of whether there was objectively measurable improvement.
  Even having cortisone shots would not impact the existence of objectively measurable improvement particularly where epicondylitis produces subjective symptoms.
  Dr. Schroeder opined that home exercise would not be medical treatment which would bring about objectively measurable improvement.

In its brief, the employer claims  that the employee was treated for lateral epicondylitis of the right elbow in October 2003 and was effectively released from medical care.  Then, when the employee returned to see Dr. Wolf in October 2004, he was treated for a different problem, i.e. ulnar neuritis which then required surgery.
  The employer goes on to argue that the only issue is whether the employee’s lateral epicondylitis condition was medically stable from December 13, 2003 to October 14, 2004.  The employer asserts that the condition is medically stable if no further objectively measureable improvement is anticipated from further medical treatment, notwithstanding the possibility that the condition may improve through the natural progression of time.
  The employer asserts that unless further treatment is recommended which is expected to result in objectively measureable improvement, the condition is deemed to be medically stable under the Act.  The employer also asserts that the employee has only shown that Dr. Wolf has commented on his stability from December 3, 2003 through October 4, 2004.  In contrast, the employer maintains that Dr. Schroeder has addressed the entire time frame and found the employee to be medically stable.  Finally, the employer maintains that epicondylitis cannot be corroborated through objective medical evidence.  As a result, objectively measureable improvement cannot result from treatment for subjective complaints like tendonitis.  Since improvement cannot be anticipated, the condition must be considered stable under AS 23.30.395(21).  The employer also maintains that the employee did not seek treatment during the time frame, no objectively measureable improvement could be realized from medical care.  Since there was no objectively measureable improvement in the condition, medical stability must be concluded.
  The employer also asserts that as there was no further treatment for the right lateral epicondylitis and the employee returned for treatment of a new condition, the right epicondlyitis had stabilized and did not require further care.  Finally, the employer maintains that Dr. Wolf’s single statement of medical instability is not consistent with a record which shows no change in the right lateral epicondylitis during the pertinent time frame and no recommended treatment for the condition which would have brought about any improvement  For these  reasons, the employer urges that TTD for the time period in question be denied.

III.EMPLOYEE’S ARGUMENT REGARDING ELIGIBILITY FOR TTD FROM  DECEMBER 13, 2003 THROUGH OCTOBER 14, 2004

The employee suggests that the Board should revisit the issue of whether the employer’s controversion is in good faith.  The employee urges the Board to look beyond the opinion of a single medical provider in evaluating the offered opinion to make certain that it is premised on solid, objective medical evidence.  The employee reminds the Board that it has previously found against Dr. Schroeder and found Dr. Wolf to be credible.  The employee reiterated his problems with his elbows including his difficulties traveling to see Dr. Wolf in Ketchikan as the employee lives in a remote location.  He noted that Dr. Wolf did prescribe pain pills for him after he experienced pain in both arms.  Although the employee made appointments with Dr. Wolf, he was unable to keep them during the period when TTD benefits were controverted.  The employee offers as proof his eight unpaid prescriptions from Dr. Wolf.  The employee asserts that AS 23.30.395(21) which defines medical stability is inapplicable in his case as he has received treatment from Dr. Wolf since October 2001 and still has need for  treatment in the future.  The employee notes that it is the employer’s controversion of his benefits that has kept him from seeking medical treatment.   Finally, the employee accuses the employer’s counsel of unethical and unfair behavior in continually controverting his benefits.
.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.
TTD BENEFITS
AS 23.30.185 provides:


In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

The employee claims TTD benefits from December 13, 2003 through October 14, 2004, for his work injury.  The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act defines "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."
  The Act provides for benefits at 80% of the employee's spendable weekly wage during the continuance of disability either total or partial in character but temporary in quality."
  In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

AS 23.30.395(21) defines medical stability as follows:

(21) "medical stability" means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence…

The Alaska Supreme Court also held in Meek v. Unocal Corp.that "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
 To make a prima facie case, the employee must present some evidence that (1) he has an injury and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it. "[I]n claims 'based on highly technical medical considerations,' medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition, imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  

Following the court's rationale in Meek, the Board must apply the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to the employee’s claim for TTD benefits.  We find the claimant's testimony and the medical opinions of Dr. Wolf are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that the employee’s work injury has prevented him from working, and that he is entitled to TTD benefits from October 13, 2003 through December 14, 2004.  Specifically, the Board relies on the October 26, 2004 note from Dr. Wolf that the employee could not work from March 20, 2003 through October 26, 2004.  We also rely on statements from the employee as to his condition.  Both the employee and Dr. Wolf have previously been found credible by the Board.

Having raised the presumption of compensability, the Board turns to the second stage of the presumption analysis.  There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer work‑related disability; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the disability is work‑related.
  Merely showing another cause of the disability does not, in itself, rebut the compensability of the claim against an employer.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
  

Based on our review of the testimony and the documentary record, we find Dr. Schroeder opines  that the employee’s condition was medically stable as of the date of his first evaluation of the employee on December 12, 2003.  His deposition testimony indicates that the employee had undergone a lateral epicondylectomy on October 22, 2003, and was medically stable as of the date of his evaluation.  Dr. Schroeder also opines that the employee received no further treatment related to the lateral epicondylectomy during the period after December 12, 2003 and therefore, pursuant to the definition of medical stability found at AS 23.30.395(21), the employee continued to be medically stable throughout the time period in question.  When the employee did again seek medical treatment in October 2004, it was for a new condition related to problems with the medial aspect of the elbow and the ulnar nerve.
 Viewing the testimony offered by Dr. Schroeder, in isolation, demonstrates that the employee’s right elbow condition has stabilized. The Board accepts Dr. Schroeder’s theories as substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability.
   

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the presumption drops out and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  Accordingly, we have reviewed the entire medical and hearing record.  The Board finds by a preponderance of the available evidence that the employee has established that he was not medically stable and was unable to work for the period from December 12, 2003 through October 14, 2004.  In so doing, we rely on the testimony and reports of Dr. Wolf.  In addition to the October 26, 2004 Wolf note that the employee could not work from March 20, 2003 through October 26, 2004, the Board also relies on a January 31, 2005 letter from Dr. Wolf wherein he says the employee was not medically stable from December 3, 2003 to December 4, 2004.  Reading these notes together and considering the employee’s lengthy history of medical treatment from Dr. Wolf since 2001, the Board finds that the employee has established that he is entitled to TTD for the period from December 12, 2003 through October 14, 2004.  In reaching this conclusion, the Board points out the it has previously found the employee and Dr. Wolf credible in its September 27, 2004 order.
  The Board continues to find Dr. Wolf and the employee credible.

Moreover, the employee’s difficulties with providing documentary evidence from his physician, Dr. Wolf, on the TTD issue have been greatly hampered by the fact that the employer controverted benefits during the time period in question, and thereby effectively prevented the employee from obtaining medical statements regarding his condition during this time period.
  Thus, Dr. Wolf ‘s statements have addressed his ability to work and his medical stability.  These statements have been provided based on Dr. Wolf’s knowledge of the employee’s condition since he began treating him in 2001 and through the present time.  During the intervening years, the employee has had numerous office visits and several surgeries performed by Dr. Wolf.  It is clear that Dr. Wolf is well aware of the employee’s condition throughout the period he has been treating the employee.  Further, the Board finds Dr. Wolf’s extensive knowledge of the employee’s medical history as it relates to his work injuries and the consequential relationship between the employee’s right and left elbow conditions and their work relatedness is reliable.

The Board has also considered the employer’s theories advanced by Dr. Schroeder regarding the nature of the employee’s right elbow conditions and the employer’s claim that the lateral epicondylitis which was operated on October 15, 2003 is different from the elbow condition which brought the employee to see Dr. Wolf again on October 8, 2004, i.e., a medial epicondylitis and ulnar problem.  The Board again rejects these distinctions in view of the nature and mechanism of the employee’s elbow injury.
  Dr. Wolf indicates that the employee’s symptoms are consistent with the mechanism of injury as fully described in the employee’s post hearing statement.  The Board previously found the employee’s right elbow condition compensable in AWCB Decision No. 04-0231
  The Board made no distinction as to what parts of the right elbow condition  were compensable. This conclusion was based in part on the nature of the employee’s elbow injuries. On this basis, we reject the employer’s arguments regarding medical stability or changes in conditions which all essentially relate to an injured elbow condition.  The Board has previously found Dr. Wolf’s reports to be credible as opposed to those of Dr. Schroeder who has only seen the employee on two occasions.  We adopted the Wolf reports as the basis for our findings as to compensability of the employee’s claims in AWCB Decision No. 04-0231 and we see no reason to depart from our previous approach in this case as we consider the employee’s TTD claim for the period from December 12, 2003 through October 14, 2004. Based on the statements of the employee and Dr. Wolf, the Board concludes that the employee is entitled to TTD benefits for the period of disability between December 12, 2003 through October 14, 2004.
  

II. INTEREST

The Board’s regulation, 8 AAC 45.142, requires the payment of interest at a statutory rate as provided at AS 45.45.010, from the date at which each installment of compensation is due. 

8 AAC 45.142, governing the payment of interest states, in part:

(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 9.30.070.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

The Board finds that the employee is entitled to interest on late paid benefits beginning with the date 

TTD was owed.  
III. OTHER ISSUES

In the employee’s June 6, 2005 brief, the employee asks the Board to revisit the controversions issued by the employer in this case and, in particular, the November 25, 2003 controversion.  The Board declines to do so as we have already considered this issue in AWCB Decision No. 04-0231 at p. 22.  The employee did not seek reconsideration of this issue after issuance of the September 27, 2004 order, AWCB Decision No. 04-0231.  We also note that this issue was not among those to be addressed in this proceeding.


ORDER
1. The employer shall pay the employee TTD benefits for the period from December 13, 2003 through October 14, 2004. 

2. Interest is due on the TTD benefits pursuant to 8 AAC 45.142.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on July 14, 2005.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue is not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.  If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the Board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 
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� At the time of the injury, the employer was “South Coast Inc.”  It is now known as “Klukwan, Inc.”


� August 17, 2001 report of injury.  See also AWCB Decision No. 04-0231 at 2.


� March 13, 2003 Welton letter.


� March 4, 2003 Matelski letter.


�  The employee’s post hearing statement in AWCB 200116177 included the following excerpt:  On April 17th…Mr. Tower was put on the survey crew pounding hubs.  At the end of the day, Mr. Tower told Mr. Welton that his elbows wouldn’t last but Mr. Welton said it was just temporary.  In fact, if Mr.Tower would get a CDL, Mr. Welton would have Mr. Tower driving the water truck.  So Mr. Tower took the next day off and applied for a CDL, which Mr. Tower received on Friday April 20.  Then, after three 10 hour days of pounding that 10# sledge into the hard roadbed both of Mr. Tower’s elbows were swelled up like grapefruit.  Mr. Tower went to the office and showed Mr. Welton and Ken what had happened to his elbows from pounding hubs.  In response, Mr. Welton told Mr. Tower to hold on because Mr. Welton would get him on the wall crew.  Ten days later Mr.Tower went back to Mr.Welton and told him he (Mr. Tower) had to quit as the job was totally destroying his arms and ruining his future.  Both arms were swelled up and in massive pain.  At this point they hired two more men.  One went to the wall crew and the other to drive truck.  At this time Mr. Tower walked off the job.  Mr. Tower then called the office (May 2, 2001) and told Mr. Welton that he would not return to pound hubs.  Three weeks later Mr. Tower was called back to work.  When Mr. Tower got there Big John (road boss) told Mr. Tower that he would be pounding hubs, but just temporarily, as they had hired a replacement for Mr. Tower (a College student), but as the days went on Mr. Tower continued pounding hubs and the new replacement went to the culvert crew.  On May 30, 2001, Mr. Tower took four weeks off to settle and diminish the pain.  Then Mr. Welton called Mr. Tower to return to work and Mr. Tower refused at that point.  However, Mr. Welton told Mr. Tower all they needed from Mr. Tower was his concrete experience.  So Mr. Tower returned to work.  He set and poured concrete for two days and the following day put back on pounding hubs.  Mr. Tower didn’t show up for a few days and then Mr. Welton called Mr. Tower in to work on multiplate culvert.  Mr. Tower spent 1 ½ days on culvert crew and was asked to finish the day pounding hubs.  The next day he was put back to pounding hubs.  After two more 10 hour days, Mr. Tower couldn’t lift his arms.  Mr. Tower went home and the next morning called the office and quit (July 3, 2002)…   





� August 17, 2001 Lundgren report.


� At the August 26, 2004 hearing, the employee suggested he may need to be rated again for the left arm due to two more surgeries after the last rating.  The employee should file a separate claim on this issue. Richard v. Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company. 384 P.2d 445 (Alaska 1963).


� December 26, 2002 Wolf report.


� October 19, 2001 workers’ compensation claim; employer hearing brief, pages 2-3.


� January 24, 2003 workers’ compensation claim.


� January 28, 2003 workers’ compensation claim.


� February 14, 2003 Wolf report.


� February 26, 2003 controversion.  Another controversion on the same basis including the employee’s psychological condition was filed April 10, 2003.


� Employee testimony at hearing.


� April 29, 2003 Wolf report.


� August 5, 2003 Wolf report.


� March 31, 2003 Adonica Simpson WCT Administrator letter.


� February 19, 2003 Tower deposition at 17.


� July 15, 2003 prehearing conference summary.


� October 9, 2003 Wolf repor.t


� October 21, 2003 Wolf report.


� October 22, 2003 Wolf operative report.


� November 19, 2003 Wolf letter.


� November 25, 2003 Wolf report.


� October 24, 2003 employer request for reconsideration at 2.


� November 25, 2003 controversion.


� November 29, 2003 workers’ compensation claim.


� January 7, 2004 answer to employee’s workers’ compensation claim and amended answer filed February 23, 2004 which asserted the controversions were reasonably based upon facts and law.


� December 12, 2003 Schroeder report at pages 8-9.


� Id., at 7-8.


� hearing tape.


� March 20, 2003 Bursell report and hearing tape.


� April 29, 2003 Wolf report.


� August 5, 2003 Wolf report.


� October 9, 2003 Wolf report.


� October 22, 2003 Wolf operation report.


� hearing tape.


� December 12, 2003 Schroeder report at 6.


� hearing tape.  The employee maintained that overuse occurred not only during the splinting or casting process but also during the entire period of recovery which would be considerably longer than two weeks.


� Id. at 10.


� hearing tape.


� Richard v. Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company, 384 P.2d 445 (Alaska 1963)


� 980 P.2d 462 (Alaska 1999)


� AWCB Decision No. 04-0231 at 25


� Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669, 675 (Alaska 1991).


� Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).


� Peek v. SKW/Clinton, 855 P.2d 415, 416 (Alaska 1993); 9 A. Larson, The Law of Worker's Compensation, § 95.12 (1997).


� Burgess Const. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312 (Alaska 1981).


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


� AS 23.30.122


� Smallwood, 623 P.2d at 316.


� Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Serv. Co.,  617 P.2d 755, 757 (Alaska 1980).


� DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90, 96 (Alaska 2000); Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 871.


� Id. at 869.  


� DeYonge, 1 P.3d at 96.  


� Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991); Burgess Constr. v. Smallwood, 689 P.2d 1206, 1211 (Alaska 1985).


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 870 (Alaska 1985).   





� AS 23.30.122


� October 28, 2004 prehearing conference order; October 26, 2004 Henneman letter to Tower.


� October 15, 2004 Wolf operation report.


� October 28, 2004 prehearing conference order.


� These reports are specifically described in AWCB Decision No. 05-0001, issued January 3, 2005 at pages 5 and 6.


� November 23, 2003 Wolf report.


� December 12, 2003 Wolf report.


� December 16, 2003 Wolf note.


� magnetic resonance image


� magnetic resonance imaging


� October 14, 2004 Wolf report.


� October 15, 2004 pre-op history and physical and Wolf operation report.


� October 21, 2004 Wolf report.


� October 26, 2004 Wolf letter.


� December 1, 2004 Schroeder report.


� Id. at 1.


� Id.


� Id. at 2.


� December 1, 2004 Schroeder report at 4.


� Id. at 5.


� December 2, 2004 Hearing Brief on Lack of Entitlement to Additional TTD Benefits for Right Elbow Condition at 2.


� December 2, 2004 Responsive Brief of Lane B. Tower.


� AWCB Decision No. 05-0001


� Id. at 11-12.


� Id. at 4 and 10.


� Id. at 11.


� January 18, 2005 petition for reconsideration; Memorandum in Support of Reconsideration of Decision of January 3, 2005 and Request for Ruling on the Record.


� January 31, 2005 responsive brief of Lane B. Tower.


� January 25, 2005 Wolf report.


� January 28, 2005 controversion.


� January 31, 2005 Wolf letter.


� February 1, 2005 Order on Reconsideration, AWCB Decision No. 05-0031.


� Id. at 8.


� February 11, 2005 letter to parties.


� February 16, 2005 Wolf letter.


� February 28, 2005 Written Argument on New Evidence Submitted by Employee..


� Id. at 2..


� Id. at 3.


� Id. at 4.


� Id.


� March 29, 2005, Interlocutory Decision and Order, AWCB Decision No. 05-0091.


� Id. at 7.


� April 27, 2005 prehearing conference order.


� June 6, 2005 Schroeder deposition at 4-5 and 32.


� Id. at 6.


� Id. at 12.


� Id. at 15.


� Id. at 25.


� Id. at 40.


� Id. at 42.


� Id. at 43.


� June 9, 2005 Hearing Brief of Klukwan, Inc. and Alaska National Insurance Company at 2.


� Id. at 3.


� Id. at 4.


� June 13, 2005 Hearing Brief on Claim for Compensation and TTD Benefits Due for Right Elbow Injury from Unfair Controversion of 11/25/2003 through 10/14/2004 at 3


� AS 23.30.395(10).


� AS 23.30.185; AS 23.30.200.


� 524 P.2d 264, 266 (Alaska 1974).


� 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996), quoting Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).  


� Burgess Const. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312 (Alaska 1981).


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


� Peek v. SKW/Clinton, 855 P.2d 415, 416 (Alaska 1993); 9 A. Larson, The Law of Worker's Compensation, § 95.12 (1997).


� AWCB Decision 04-0231 at p. 17 and 18


� DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90, 96 (Alaska 2000); Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 611, 612 (Alaska 1999). 


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


� Id. at 869.  


� June 6, 2005 Schroeder dep. at 6


� DeYonge, 1 P.3d at 96.  


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 870 (Alaska 1985).   


� AWCB Decision No. 04-0231 at pp. 17 and 18; AS 23.30.122.


� Id.


� A print out of appointments scheduled with Dr. Wolf for the time period in question shows the employee had an appointment with Dr. Wolf October 22, 2003 but then cancelled the next one on November 14, 2003.  He had another with Dr. Wolf on November 25, 2003 and then two more were cancelled, one for March 4, 2004 and another for July 27, 2004.  Another appointment was set for August 5, 2004 but the employee did not appear.  He then was seen by Dr.Wolf on August 26, 2004 and October 8, 2004. 


� The employee’s post hearing statement in AWCB 200116177 included the following excerpt:  On April 17th…Mr. Tower was put on the survey crew pounding hubs.  At the end of the day, Mr. Tower told Mr. Welton that his elbows wouldn’t last but Mr. Welton said it was just temporary.  In fact, if Mr.Tower would get a CDL, Mr. Welton would have Mr. Tower driving the water truck.  So Mr. Tower took the next day off and applied for a CDL, which Mr. Tower received on Friday April 20.  Then, after three 10 hour days of pounding that 10# sledge into the hard roadbed both of Mr. Tower’s elbows were swelled up like grapefruit.  Mr. Tower went to the office and showed Mr. Welton and Ken what had happened to his elbows from pounding hubs.  In response, Mr. Welton told Mr. Tower to hold on because Mr. Welton would get him on the wall crew.  Ten days later Mr.Tower went back to Mr.Welton and told him he (Mr. Tower) had to quit as the job was totally destroying his arms and ruining his future.  Both arms were swelled up and in massive pain.  At this point they hired two more men.  One went to the wall crew and the other to drive truck.  At this time Mr. Tower walked off the job.  Mr. Tower then called the office (May 2, 2001) and told Mr. Welton that he would not return to pound hubs.  Three weeks later Mr. Tower was called back to work.  When Mr. Tower got there Big John (road boss) told Mr. Tower that he would be pounding hubs, but just temporarily, as they had hired a replacement for Mr. Tower (a College student), but as the days went on Mr. Tower continued pounding hubs and the new replacement went to the culvert crew.  On May 30, 2001, Mr. Tower took four weeks off to settle and diminish the pain.  Then Mr. Welton called Mr. Tower to return to work and Mr. Tower refused at that point.  However, Mr. Welton told Mr. Tower all they needed from Mr. Tower was his concrete experience.  So Mr. Tower returned to work.  He set and poured concrete for two days and the following day put back on pounding hubs.  Mr. Tower didn’t show up for a few days and then Mr. Welton called Mr. Tower in to work on multiplate culvert.  Mr. Tower spent 1 ½ days on culvert crew and was asked to finish the day pounding hubs.  The next day he was put back to pounding hubs.  After two more 10 hour days, Mr. Tower couldn’t lift his arms.  Mr. Tower went home and the next morning called the office and quit (July 3, 2002)…   





� At p. 17 and 25.


� DeYonge, 1 P.3d at 96.  


� Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1984); Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992); Childs v. Copper Valley Electrical Association, 860 P.2d 1184, 1191 (Alaska 1993).
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